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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

MATT HOSSEINZADEH,
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT
AND
JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs,
– against –
ETHAN KLEIN and HILA KLEIN,

Civ. Action No.: 16-cv-3081 (KBF)
ECF Case

Defendants.

Plaintiff Matt Hosseinzadeh for his Complaint against defendants Ethan Klein and Hila
Klein, alleges:
NATURE OF THE ACTION
1.

This is a civil action for copyright infringement in violation of the Copyright Act,

17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq.
PARTIES
2.

Plaintiff Matt “Hoss” Hosseinzadeh (“Mr. Hoss” or the “Plaintiff”) is an

individual residing in Sherman Oaks, California.
3.

Mr. Hoss is a recognized filmmaker, having a loyal and wide cult following, who

publishes his original film and music productions on the popular YouTube.com (“YouTube”)
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channel

having

the

name

“MattHossZone”

(accessible

at

https://www.youtube.com/user/MattHossZone).
4.

On information and belief, defendants Ethan Klein (“Mr. Klein”) and Hila Klein

(“Ms. Klein”) (collectively the “Kleins” or the “Defendants”) are individuals residing in the
Federal Southern District of New York.
5.

On information and belief, the Defendants publish video content to a YouTube

channel having the name “Ethan and Hila.”
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
6.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and

7.

This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because, on information and

1338.

belief, Defendants, (a) reside in New York; (b) in person or through an agent have transacted
business in New York through their YouTube channel; and/or (c) (i)

have

committed

the

infringing acts described herein, causing injury to Mr. Hoss in New York, and (ii) expected or
should reasonably have expected their infringing acts to have consequences in New York, and
(iii) derive substantial revenue from interstate or international commerce.
8.

Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c).
PLAINTIFF’S WORK

9.

Mr. Hoss is the sole owner of the copyright and all other rights in and to the

creative motion picture collection of works titled “The Bold Guy & Horny Tony Volume 1” (US
Copyright Reg. No. PAu 3-770-968) which collection includes the individual work titled “Bold
Guy 12 Parkour Girl” (individually the “Work”).
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10.

A copy of Mr. Hoss’s registration certificate with the United States Copyright

Office is attached hereto at Exhibit 1.
11.

As an independent filmmaker struggling to achieve mainstream recognition, Mr.

Hoss invests virtually all of his personal income into his projects, as well as functioning in
multiple roles as writer, director, producer, cinematographer, actor, editor, and even stunt man
for his projects.
12.

Mr. Hoss also composes all of the original soundtrack works for his film projects

which music works have also received independent recognition.
13.

Mr. Hoss has passionately invested his time, energy, and occasionally blood into

his film projects.
14.

In fact, on August 14, 2013 during the six week period filming the Work, which

included a highly physical “Parkour” action sequence, Mr. Hoss was hospitalized with multiple
fractures to his skull, a fractured elbow, a concussion, and facial nerve damage due to blunt force
trauma when Mr. Hoss suffered a fall onto concrete while training for the Work’s action
sequence.
15.

Needless to say, Mr. Hoss has invested substantial time, effort, money, and quite

literally his physical well-being to generate the original content for his Work.
DEFENDANTS' INFRINGEMENTS
16.

On or about February 15, 2016, Defendants published a video on their YouTube

channel that copied and displayed virtually all of Mr. Hoss’s original Work (the “Infringing
Video”).
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17.

The Infringing Video features the Defendants purporting to discuss the Work in

what they believe to be a humorous manner but in fact reproduces virtually all of the Work as
nothing more than a prop in the Defendants’ “comedy routine.”
18.

The Infringing Video was created and published without license from Mr. Hoss in

direct violation of Mr. Hoss's exclusive rights as an author pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 106.
19.

The Infringing Video contains virtually all of the original Work, comprising the

focus point of the Infringing Video, as well as work by the Kleins that purports to build upon the
original Work.
20.

The Infringing Video does nothing to alter the original Work with new

expression, meaning, or message.
21.

The Infringing Video fails to contribute a single substantive comment, criticism,

or even parody to or of the original Work.
22.

On information and belief, the Infringing Video was published by the Defendants

in a transparent attempt to exploit the popularity of the original Work which currently has more
than ten million “views” on YouTube.
23.

The Infringing Video was even advertised by the Defendants by utilizing a still

“thumbnail” image from the original Work (as opposed to a still image from the Defendants’
“original content,” minor as that is, from their Infringing Video) which advertisement, on
information and belief, was specifically tailored by the Defendants to confuse viewers into
thinking that, by clicking on the hyperlink to the Infringing Video, they would be taken to the
original Work.
24.

On April 2, 2016, Mr. Hoss emailed the Kleins to request that they immediately

remove the Infringing Video from YouTube and cease all future infringement of the Work.
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25.

On April 2, 2016, Mr. Klein on behalf of the Kleins responded to Mr. Hoss via

email, refusing to cease their infringement, claiming fair use exemption, directing Mr. Hoss to
contact their attorney, and daring Mr. Hoss to file a takedown request with YouTube pursuant to
the Digital Millennium Copyright Act (“DMCA”), stating that the Kleins would dispute such
takedown notice and that the “[Infringing Video] will be reinstated within two weeks” because
the Kleins have “dealt with this many times,” and such allegations of infringement were
evidently a “matter of routine to [them].”
26.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants have unfairly derived profit from the

Infringing Video in the form of advertising revenues generated on YouTube by the Infringing
Video.
27.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants have unfairly derived profit from the

Infringing Video in the form of their YouTube channel, which generates advertising revenue,
increasing in popularity during the two-month period that the Infringing Video was displayed.
28.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants’ YouTube channel more than

doubled its number of subscribers due, at least in part, to the popularity generated by the
Infringing Video.
29.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants have unfairly derived profit from the

Infringing Video and from the goodwill and popularity generated by the Infringing Video in the
form of donations that the Defendants have received from their fan base via donation website
www.patreon.com.
30.

Upon information and belief, and based upon the Defendants’ express statements,

the Defendants have unfairly derived and/or will unfairly derive additional profit from the

5

Infringing Video and from the goodwill and popularity generated by the Infringing Video in the
form of donations from their fan base via the website www.gofundme.com.
DEFENDANTS’ FALSE DMCA COUNTER NOTIFICATION
31.

On or about April 23, 2016, Mr. Hoss submitted to YouTube a notification,

pursuant to 17 USC § 512(c)(3) (the “DMCA”), requesting that YouTube takedown the
Infringing Video.
32.

YouTube took down the Infringing Video on April 23, 2016.

33.

On or about April 26, 2016, the Defendants submitted to YouTube a counter

notification, pursuant to 17 USC § 512(g)(3), affirming under penalty of perjury that the
Infringing Video was improperly removed because it was, among other reasons, a fair use and
“noncommercial.”
34.

A copy of the Defendant’s counter notification to YouTube is attached hereto at

Exhibit 2.
35.

Aside from the fact, as described in greater detail above, that the Infringing Video

does not constitute a transformative fair use, it is also the fact that the Defendants operate the
Ethan and Hila YouTube channel, where they published the Infringing Video, as an
entertainment channel via which the Defendants generate advertising revenues.
36.

Upon information and belief, the Defendants’ YouTube channel belongs to the

Freedom! advertising network which is a YouTube partner that helps YouTube contributors,
such as the Defendants, grow their advertising revenues generated from content that they publish
to YouTube.
37.

Indeed, the Infringing Video was rife with third party advertisements that, upon

information and belief, generated advertising revenue for the Defendants.
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DEFENDANTS’ DEFAMATORY VIDEO
38.

On May 24, 2016, the Defendants posted a new video to their YouTube channel

entitled “We’re Being Sued” (the “Defamatory Video”) which lambasted Mr. Hoss and his
copyright claims to the Defendants’ approximately two million fans.
39.

The Defamatory Video made certain false statements which have caused serious

harm to Mr. Hoss’s reputation.
40.

Specifically, the Defamatory Video at 2:47 stated that Mr. Hoss’s initial response

to the Infringing Video was to hire an attorney and demand an immediate monetary payment
from Defendants in connection with the Infringing Video.
41.

In the Defamatory Video, Mr. Klein stated that after the Defendants posted the

Infringing Video to YouTube, “several months passed and nothing happens, and then we get an
email from [Mr. Hoss’s] lawyer to [the Defendants’ counsel]” wherein the Plaintiff demanded
removal of the Infringing Video and a payment of four thousand dollars.
42.

The Defendants explicitly and falsely stated that nothing happened in the several

months between their posting of the Infringing Video and the correspondence from Mr. Hoss’s
attorneys.
43.

In fact, on April 2, 2016, eighteen days prior to engaging his own counsel, Mr.

Hoss personally emailed the Defendants to request “as a courtesy to [the Defendants] instead of
submitting an official takedown notice” that the Defendants remove Mr. Hoss’s content from
their YouTube channel—Mr. Hoss did not request any consideration from the Defendants apart
from the removal of his content from their channel.
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44.

The Defendants responded to Mr. Hoss’s request that they would not remove the

Infringing Video, that they would dispute any takedown request, and that Mr. Hoss should speak
directly to the Defendants’ lawyer.
45.

It was only after this exchange that Mr. Hoss was forced to expend his own

financial resources on an attorney to correspond with the Defendants’ lawyer.
46.

A copy of the foregoing email exchange between Mr. Hoss and the Defendants is

attached hereto at Exhibit 3.
47.

The Defendants’ false statement, that nothing happened in the months between

their posting of the Infringing Video and their receipt of an initial demand from Mr. Hoss’s
counsel, was specifically tailored to paint Mr. Hoss as a greedy and litigious bully rather than
what he truly was: an independent content creator who was dared by unrepentant copyright
infringers to spend his money on counsel in order to enforce his rights.
48.

The Defendants’ false statement, and the Defamatory Video in its entirety, was

published to their approximately two million fans with the sole purpose of tarnishing Mr. Hoss’s
reputation and punishing him for daring to confront the bigger, more popular infringers.
49.

The Defendants’ false statement succeeded in tarnishing Mr. Hoss’s reputation

and was picked up and republished by numerous major publications, including Time Magazine,
Techdirt, Variety, and others.
50.

The Defendants’ false statement resulted in thousands of YouTube viewers,

presumably fans of the Defendants, inundating Mr. Hoss with threats and other hateful
statements, including statements that echoed the Defendants’ false insinuation of greed and
litigiousness.
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51.

More importantly, the Defendants’ false statements resulted in thousands of

YouTube viewers “downvoting” all of the existing videos on Mr. Hoss’s YouTube channel as
well as making a concerted effort to sabotage the analytics relevant to the popularity of Mr.
Hoss’s YouTube channel by, for example, visiting the video webpages but pausing the videos
immediately to post negative comments on the webpage prior to exiting the webpages which
actions, upon information and belief, instructed YouTube’s algorithms that the videos in question
were of poor quality and, therefore, directly resulted in Mr. Hoss’s creative content ceasing to
prominently appear in YouTube’s search results and viewing suggestions to potential content
viewers.
52.

The Defendants’ false statements, the resulting damage to Mr. Hoss’s reputation,

and the corresponding attacks on Mr. Hoss and Mr. Hoss’s YouTube channel resulting from the
Defendants’ false statement, have rendered null the time, effort, and money invested by Mr. Hoss
to create his videos, as well as damaged any potential future earnings from his videos and the
profitability of Mr. Hoss’s YouTube channel.
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Copyright Infringement)
53.

Mr. Hoss repeats and realleges the assertions contained in paragraphs 1 through

52 above.
54.

Mr. Hoss is the author of, and sole proprietor of all right, title and interest in and

to the federal copyrights in the Work. Under 17 U.S.C. § 106, Mr. Hoss has the exclusive right to
reproduce, distribute, publicly display and prepare derivative works based on the Work.
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55.

As alleged above, Defendants have infringed the copyrights in the Work by

unlawfully reproducing, publicly displaying, promoting, distributing, and preparing an
unlicensed derivative work of the Work in the form of their Infringing Video.
56.

The Defendants should have known that their slavish reproduction of virtually all

of the Work, without any substantive alteration to infuse the Work with new expression,
meaning, or message, was not a “fair use” of the Work as defined in 17 U.S.C. § 107.
57.

The Defendants should have performed, in good faith, research of the relevant

statutes and caselaw to understand that their use of the Work was not a fair use.
58.

The Defendants' infringements were willful and malicious in that they were

committed with knowledge or in reckless disregard of Mr. Hoss’s exclusive rights, especially
after having been warned of the same by Mr. Hoss.
59.

The Defendants’ willful and malicious conduct is evidenced by their email to Mr.

Hoss wherein they dared him to make a DMCA request to YouTube and promised to
immediately dispute such request.
60.

Mr. Hoss is entitled to recover from Defendants his actual damages as well as the

profits of Defendants attributable to each of their infringements and not taken into account in
computing actual damages, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b); or, at Mr. Hoss’s election, an award
of statutory damages pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(c) with respect to each of the infringements by
Defendants of the Work.
61.

Pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505, Mr. Hoss is also entitled to recover his costs and

attorneys' fees from Defendants with respect to each infringement by Defendants of the Work.
62.

As a result of Defendants' copyright infringements, Mr. Hoss has suffered, and

will continue to suffer, irreparable injury not fully compensable in monetary damages, and is
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therefore entitled to an injunction enjoining Defendants from engaging in their infringing
activities.
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(DMCA Misrepresentation)
63.

Mr. Hoss repeats and realleges the assertions contained in paragraphs 1 through

62 above.
64.

By filing a DMCA counter notification with YouTube on or about April 26, 2016,

the Defendants knowingly misrepresented to YouTube that the Infringing Video was improperly
removed because (i) it was a fair use under U.S. copyright law; (ii) it was noncommercial; (iii) it
was transformative in nature; and (iv) it used no more of the original Work than necessary.
65.

The foregoing statements made by the Defendants under penalty of perjury are

66.

17 U.S.C.

false.
§ 512(f) provides that “[a]ny person who knowingly materially

misrepresents under this section … shall be liable for any damages, including costs and
attorneys’ fees, incurred … by any copyright owner or copyright owner’s authorized licensee ..
who is injured by such misrepresentation.”
67.

Pursuant to its internal policies, in the event of a counter notification such as in

the instant matter, YouTube requires copyright owners to submit proof that they have filed a
court action seeking injunction against display of the infringing material.
68.

Mr. Hoss was injured by the Defendants’ misrepresentation to YouTube under the

DMCA in being forced to pursue this action in order to secure the ultimate removal of the
Infringing Video from YouTube.
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69.

Mr. Hoss is entitled to damages including costs and attorneys’ fee pursuant to 17

U.S.C. § 512(f).
THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Defamation)
70.

Mr. Hoss repeats and realleges the assertions contained in paragraphs 1 through

69 above.
71.

The Defamatory Video posted by the Defendants on May 24, 2016 contains false

statements concerning Mr. Hoss as specifically detailed above.
72.

The Defamatory Video was circulated to the general public, garnering over four

million distinct “views” on YouTube.
73.

False statements made by the Defendants in the Defamatory Video were re-

circulated to the general public by numerous major publications.
74.

The Defamatory Video and the false statements made therein have resulted in

significant damage to the Mr. Hoss’s reputation and monetary earnings.
75.

The Defendants made the false statements in their Defamatory Video with full,

and in fact documented, knowledge that such statements were false.
76.

The Defendants therefore made their false statements about Mr. Hoss with a

willful and malicious intent to injure Mr. Hoss’s reputation.
77.

Mr. Hoss’s reputation and business as a filmmaker, including the earnings of his

YouTube channel, have been damaged by the Defendants’ false statements in an amount to be
determined at trial but in no event less than $75,000.

WHEREFORE, Mr. Hoss prays that the Court:
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1.

Find that the Defendants have willfully and maliciously infringed Mr. Hoss’s

copyright in the Work;
2.

Preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants, their officers, agents,

employees, and related companies, and all persons acting for, with, by, through, or under them,
from copying, reproducing, distributing, advertising, promoting, publicly displaying any work
that is identical or substantially similar to or reproduces any portion of the Work;
3.

(a)

Award to Mr. Hoss, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(c), his actual damages

incurred as a result of Defendants' acts of copyright infringement, and all profits Defendants
realized as a result of such unlawful acts, in amounts to be determined at trial; or (b) In the
alternative, with respect to the Work, award to Mr. Hoss, at his election, statutory damages
pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(c);
4.

Award to Mr. Hoss, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505, his costs and attorneys' fees

incurred as a result of Defendants' unlawful acts;
5.

Find that the Defendants have made a knowing misrepresentation to YouTube

pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 512;
6.

Award Mr. Hoss, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 512(f) damages including costs and

attorneys’ fees arising from the litigation of this action to secure final takedown of the Infringing
Video;
7.

Find that the Defendants have willfully and maliciously defamed Mr. Hoss;

8.

Award Mr. Hoss damages arising from the Defendants’ defamatory statements in

an amount to be determined at trial; and
9.

Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems necessary and proper under

the circumstances.
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Plaintiff demands trial
by jury in this action of all issues so triable.
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Dated: New York, New York
July 22, 2016

Tim Bukher (TB1984)
Benjamin S. Thompson (BT2176)
THOMPSON BUKHER LLP
75 Broad Street, Suite 2120
New York, NY 10004
P: (212) 920-6050
F: (646) 349-2366
tbukher@thomplegal.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff
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EXHIBIT 1

EXHIBIT 2

From: YouTube <copyright@youtube.com>
Subject: Re: [6-2944000011509] New Copyright Counter-Notiﬁcation
Date: April 26, 2016 at 6:33:55 PM PDT
To: matt@matthoss.com

We received the attached counter notification in response to a complaint you filed with us.
We're providing you with the counter notification and await evidence (in not more than 10
business days) that you've filed an action seeking a court order against the counter notifier to
restrain the allegedly infringing activity. Such evidence should be submitted by replying to this
email. If we don't receive notice from you, we may reinstate the material to YouTube.
If you have any questions, please contact copyright@youtube.com

CounterNotification as follows:
Videos included in counternotification:
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iYT43iUGl0
Display name of uploader: Ethan and Hila
This video is fair use under U.S. copyright law because it is noncommercial and
transformative in nature, uses no more of the original than necessary, and has no negative
effect on the market for the original work.
I swear, under penalty of perjury, that I have a good faith belief the material was removed due
to a mistake or misidentification of the material to be removed or disabled.
I consent to the jurisdiction of the Federal District Court for the district in which my address is
located, or if my address is outside of the United States, the judicial district in which YouTube
is located, and will accept service of process from the claimant.
Ethan Klein
PO Box 230208
New York, NY 10023 US
hilalilushklein@gmail.com
7027507100

Help center • Email options • Report spam
©2016 YouTube, LLC 901 Cherry Ave, San Bruno, CA 94066

EXHIBIT 3

7/22/2016

Thompson Bukher LLP Mail  Fwd: Copyright Infringement

From: Ethan and Hila <hilalilushklein@gmail.com>
Subject: Re: Copyright Infringement
Date: April 2, 2016 at 12:47:45 PM PDT
To: Matt Hoss <matt@matthoss.com>
Cc: Ryan Morrison <Ryan@ryanmorrisonlaw.com>
Hi Matt,
We're sorry that our video has troubled you so much, but I'm afraid, despite your insistence, that it does indeed
fall within the realm of fair us. It is therefore our decision to take no further action. It is of course within your
right to file a DMCA, but we will disputed it and the video will be reinstated within two weeks. We've dealt with
this many times, it is a matter of routine for us.
If you wish to pursue further legal action, I would urge you to speak directly to our lawyer, Mr. Ryan Morrison,
who is attached on cc.
Sorry again for any trouble this may have caused you. If you wish to discuss anything else please contact us
anytime, we are big fans and love your work!
Yours sincerely,
Ethan Klein
On Saturday, April 2, 2016, Matt Hoss <matt@matthoss.com> wrote:
Dear Ms. Klein and Associates,
It’s Matt Hosseinzadeh from the YouTube channel “MattHossZone". It’s been brought to my attention that
you have uploaded my short film “The Bold Guy vs Parkour Girl” to your channel:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iYT43iUGl0

Your action constitutes digital piracy and copyright infringement.
I’m writing this email as a courtesy to you instead of submitting an official takedown notice via YouTube,
which would result in a copyright strike against your channel.
The above mentioned film, like all my work, is registered with the United States Copyright Office, and it’s
also protected by international copyright law as set forth by the Berne Convention.
I do not grant you permission to reproduce, possess, or distribute my intellectual property, in whole or in
part, for personal, commercial, or any other use.
You must remove all of my content from your channel immediately. This includes video, audio, and
thumbnail.
You have 24 hours to do so, and to send me an email acknowledging that you have done such.
If you do not comply with this request, I am entitled to use your failure to comply as evidence
of “ willful infringement”. I will issue a takedown notice and proceed with legal action in order to recover
statutory damages and profits incurred by your copyright infringing action, and seek an order that you, as the
culpable party, pay all court costs and attorney’s fees.
Please do not for a second think that you’re protected by “fair use”. "Fair use" is decided upon by a judge in
a costly court proceeding, not by the defendant, and it does not constituteextensive use of the work or illegal
access to the work (digital piracy). Valid “fair use” is very limited in scope, e.g. quoting a small portion of
dialog in writing, or using publicity images released to you freely by the copyright owner.
I wish to resolve this issue between your company and mine in a timely, civil, and respectful manner.
I thank you in advance for your cooperation.
Sincerely,
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=7f34e41991&view=pt&q=matt%40matthoss.com&qs=true&search=query&th=153e866a27a9cd10&siml=153e866a27…
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Matt Hosseinzadeh
youtube.com/MattHossZone
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